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Your Directors’ have pleasure in submitting their report together with the financial statements of the 
Group consisting of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited and the entities it controlled during the period for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2018. In order to comply with the provisions of the Corporations Act 
2001, the Directors’ report as follows: 
  
DIRECTORS 
 
The names and details of Directors in office at any time during the financial year are: 
Mr Graham Griffiths  
Non-Executive Director and Chairman – (appointed 1 July 2016) 
 
EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE 
Mr Griffiths executive career spanned 40 years in technology-based companies, including various senior 
executive sales, marketing and product development positions with multi-nationals in the USA and Asia 
Pacific region respectively. He was Managing Director of ASX listed company ipernica Ltd, a diversified 
technology and intellectual property commercialisation group and was responsible for the acquisition and 
commercialisation of Nearmap (ASX:NEA), a global geospatial mapping technology company.  
 
His current non-executive directorships include Pointerra (cloud-based solution for managing massive 3D 
point clouds), Fleetsu (enterprise telematics provider), indji Systems (platform to manage the impact of 
natural phenomena on utility assets) and iperative (specialist in monetising intellectual property).  Mr 
Griffiths has a Bachelor of Business (Accounting) degree and is a Fellow of the Australian Institute of 
Company Directors. 
 
OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Pointerra Limited (Appointed 30 June 2016) 
 
OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS  
Nil 
 
Mr Matthew Callahan  
Executive Director – (appointed 1 July 2016) 
 
EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE 
Mr Callahan is a founding director of Botanix. He is also the founding CEO of iCeutica, and a co-inventor 
of technologies that comprise the SoluMatrix Fine Particle Technology™ for improving the bioavailability 
of pharmaceuticals. He has more than 20 years legal, licensing and investment management experience 
and is a director of Orthocell Ltd (ASX:OCC). 
 
Mr Callahan has worked as investment director for two venture capital firms investing in life sciences 
and other sectors. He was General Manager and General Counsel with an ASX listed patent licensing 
company where he was responsible for licensing programs that have generated over $120 million in 
revenue. 
 
OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Orthocell Limited [2006-present] 
 
OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS  
Nil   



BOTANIX PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED 
ACN: 009 109 755 

 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)  
 

3 

Dr William Bosch 
Executive Director – (appointed 1 July 2016) 
 
 
EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE 
Dr Bosch is a seasoned Pharmaceuticals executive with more than 25 years of experience in the industry, 
focusing on applications of drug delivery technology to Pharmaceuticals product development.  Dr Bosch 
also works with iCeutica Inc. and is a co-inventor of the SoluMatrix™ technology and has been 
instrumental in the development and scale up of the platform and the development of the three FDA 
approved products that use that drug delivery technology. 
 
Before iCeutica, he was Director of Pharmaceuticals Research at Elan Corporation where he managed the 
development activities for four commercial products that incorporate nanotechnology.  Dr Bosch was a 
co-founder of NanoSystems LLC in 1995 and a co-inventor of NanoCrystal® Technology. 
 
OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Nil  
  
OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS  
Nil  
  
Mr Robert Towner  
Non-Executive Director – (appointed 24 January 2014) 
 
EXPERIENCE AND EXPERTISE 
Mr Towner has over 20 years corporate advisory and executive experience in the financial markets.  
 
Mr Towner’s skills include maintaining board awareness of financial markets, corporate governance, 
capital structuring and working capital requirements.  In addition, Mr Towner has considerable experience 
in public and private capital raising initiatives. 
 
Mr Towner has demonstrated the ability to build a successful life science company.  From 2004, Mr 
Towner was a founding Executive Director of ASX listed bioMD Limited.  In 2011, Mr Towner played a 
major role in the merger of bioMD Limited with then-private Allied Health Care Limited to create Admedus 
Limited (ASX: AHZ), a diverse healthcare company with a market capitalisation of $200 million.  
 
 
OTHER CURRENT DIRECTORSHIPS OF LISTED COMPANIES 
Managing Director – Triangle Energy (Global) Limited (appointed 9 July 2014) 
 
 
OTHER DIRECTORSHIPS HELD IN LISTED COMPANIES IN THE LAST THREE YEARS  
Nil  
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COMPANY SECRETARY 
 
Mr Simon Robertson – B.Bus, M Appl. Fin, CA 
 
Company Secretary (Appointed 17 February 2017) 
 
Mr Robertson gained a Bachelor of Business from Curtin University in Western Australia and Master of 
Applied Finance from Macquarie University in New South Wales. He is a member of the Chartered 
Accountants Australia and New Zealand and the Governance Council of Australia. Mr Robertson currently 
holds the position of Company Secretary for a number of publicly listed companies and has experience 
in corporate finance, accounting and administration, capital raisings and ASX compliance and regulatory 
requirements. 
 
PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 
 
Botanix Pharmaceuticals is a clinical stage medical dermatology company, which is dedicated to 
developing next generation therapeutics for the treatment of serious skin diseases. Our mission is to 
improve the lives of patients battling acne, psoriasis, and atopic dermatitis, by providing new treatment 
options for conditions that currently are inadequately addressed, or are treated with therapeutics that 
are burdened with side effects profiles. Botanix is harnessing the untapped potential of a synthetic active 
pharmaceutical ingredient, known as cannabidiol, which has a well-established safety profile.  
 
RESULTS 
 
The net loss attributable to members of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2018 is $11,011,813 
(30 June 2017: $4,773,098). The net loss is attributable to the expenditure in relation to research and 
development technologies of the Company. 
 
FINANCIAL POSITION 
 
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity 
of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal 
course of business. 
 
The Group has generated a comprehensive loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2018 of $11,011,813 
(30 June 2017: $$4,773,098), had a net working capital surplus of $16,284,891 at 30 June 2018 (30 June 
2017: $$5,436,823) and experienced net cash outflows from operating activities for the year of 
$9,909,009 (2017: $4,639,927).  
 
At 30 June 2018 the Group had a cash balance of $17,263,408 (30 June 2017: $5,720,514). 
 
The Directors believe that there are sufficient funds to meet the Group’s working capital requirements.   
 
The Directors consider the going concern basis of preparation to be appropriate based on forecast cash 
flows and have confidence in the Company’s ability to raise additional funds if required. 
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DIVIDENDS 
 
There were no dividends paid or declared during the year. 
 
OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND FUTURE PROSPECTS  
 
Overview 
 
For the 12 months ending 30 June 2018, Botanix has made significant progress in key operational aspects 
including multiple product development, business development, executive management, and intellectual 
property.  Botanix is well positioned to continue this momentum, with the near-term focus on moving 
Phase 2 clinical programs (acne and atopic dermatitis) into the clinic and progressing the dermatology 
pipeline (psoriasis and antimicrobial product).   

Clinical development  

Lead product: BTX 1503 (Moderate to Severe Acne) 
In July 2017, Botanix announced the successful completion of its Phase 1 study designed to evaluate the 
safety, tolerability, and pharmacokinetics for the BTX 1503 acne program.  Top line data demonstrated 
that BTX 1503 has an excellent safety profile, with little to no skin irritation and no severe adverse events 
were recorded.  
 
Following this, Botanix initiated its first patient study and achieved early completion of enrolment in 
December 2017.  The Phase 1b acne study was conducted at four of the leading acne investigative sites 
in Australia and subjects were treated for 28 days and then assessed for safety, tolerability, and efficacy 
at Day 28 and at a follow-up visit on Day 35.   
 
In January 2018, Botanix announced the successful completion of that Phase 1b acne patient study.  The 
study achieved all designated endpoints, with top line data indicating that BTX 1503 has an excellent 
safety profile, is very effective at reducing the number of inflammatory and non-inflammatory acne 
lesions and provided an excellent average improvement in patient satisfaction.  On average, inflammatory 
lesions decreased by ~47% by Day 28 of the study.  This significant reduction is greater than any other 
FDA approved topical acne product, for which data is available after 4 weeks of treatment. 
 
In May 2018, Botanix presented a poster at the International Investigational Dermatology Meeting in 
Orlando, Florida, detailing the positive results from the BTX 1503 Phase 1b acne study.  The poster 
highlighted the safety and large reduction in acne lesions seen after only 4 weeks of treatment.  
In the June 2018 quarter, Botanix successfully advanced BTX 1503 into Phase 2 clinical development.  The 
Company announced in June 2018 that the first patients were recruited following acceptance of the 
Investigational New Drug (IND) application for BTX 1503 by the US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 
and receipt of the Human Research Ethics Committee (HREC) approval in Australia.  The rapid progression 
of BTX 1503 as a new drug from early formulation development to Phase 2 studies within 24 months, is 
without precedent. 
 
The BTX 1503 Phase 2 clinical trial is now underway and is being conducted in the US and Australia, with 
over 30 leading dermatology sites and clinics participating in the trial.  The targeted enrolment for the 
trial is 360 patients with moderate to severe acne.  The BTX 1503 Phase 2 clinical trial has been designed 
to deliver data that allows Botanix to explore potential licensing and other corporate opportunities upon 
successful completion of the study around mid-2019. 
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BTX 1204 (Atopic Dermatitis or serious eczema) 
 
In November 2017, Botanix began enrolment for its first patient study for BTX 1204 for the treatment of 
atopic dermatitis, after receiving HREC approval in October 2017.  The Phase 1b patient study was a 
randomised, double blind, vehicle (placebo) controlled study, which was designed to evaluate the safety 
and tolerability of BTX 1204 in patients with mild to moderate atopic dermatitis.  The 4-week treatment 
period study was conducted with 4 leading Australian dermatology clinics, involving some of Australia’s 
leading dermatology key opinion leaders.  The study was designed to assess improvement of atopic 
dermatitis lesions and symptoms of atopic dermatitis including itch, burning and stinging compared with 
the vehicle, which contains no drug active.  Enrolment for the Phase 1b study was successfully completed 
in early April 2018, in advance of Botanix management’s initial target, reflecting significant patient 
interest to participate in the study.   
 
In early June 2018, Botanix announced the successful completion of the Phase 1b atopic dermatitis patient 
study.  The study showed that BTX 1204 was twice as effective as the vehicle in improving the key signs 
of atopic dermatitis.  Results suggested a longer treatment period would enable BTX 1204 to potentially 
exceed industry performance, as efficacy was still increasing at the 4-week timepoint.  The data indicated 
clear separation from the vehicle, with BTX 1204 showing superiority over vehicle at an early stage of the 
treatment period.  BTX 1204 also demonstrated an excellent safety profile allowing for extended dosing, 
which remains a major challenge for other available therapies. 
Botanix is currently focused on progressing BTX 1204 into Phase 2 clinical development and is well 
advanced in preparing the US FDA regulatory package to support the planned Phase 2 clinical trial.  The 
study will involve both US and Australian clinical sites and because of the efficiencies that Botanix can 
drive from running two Phase 2 studies in parallel, is expected to complete enrolment shortly after 
completion of the BTX 1503 acne Phase 2 trial.  
 
Development pipeline: BTX 1308 (Psoriasis) and new product BTX 1801 (Antimicrobial) 
 
In the June 2018 quarter, Botanix successfully completed the required pre-clinical work to support 
initiation of clinical development for BTX 1308, a novel treatment for psoriasis.  The BTX 1308 formulation 
was successfully optimised and pre-clinical testing conducted further elucidated the mechanisms of 
action of BTX 1308.  Botanix is now preparing for a Phase 1b proof of concept study in psoriasis patients.  
The study will involve a collaboration with BioSkin, a German based research organisation internationally 
recognised for their experience with the psoriasis plaque test.  The study is planned to commence in late 
3Q CY2018 and is expected to take approximately 3-4 months to complete.   
Botanix also announced the successful completion of pre-clinical testing of a new product denoted BTX 
1801, a novel antimicrobial with the potential to address the significant global public health issue of 
antimicrobial resistance, in the June 2018 quarter.  The pre-clinical testing showed that the Permetrex™ 
formulation of BTX 1801 was very effective at killing methicillin-resistant staphylococcus aureus strains 
of bacteria when compared to Permetrex™ or cannabidiol alone.  Botanix is now focused on completing 
a market review and commercial assessment, in conjunction with key opinion leaders, to identify the 
preferred type of skin infection to target initially, before embarking on initial clinical development 
targeted for late 4Q CY2018. 
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Business development and strategic partnerships (PermetrexTM) 
 
During the year, Botanix continued to work collaboratively with multiple partners to utilise the 
PermetrexTM delivery technology to formulate new drugs in development.  These collaborations involve 
undertaking early stage paid formulation work for select collaborators, which will be followed by human 
skin testing and product characterisation work.  This work helps to offset the Company’s operational costs 
and may also translate into future licensing opportunities for the PermetrexTM platform, which may 
provide immediate revenue and the potential for substantial revenues from milestone payments and 
royalties, at no additional cost to Botanix. 
 
Corporate 
 
Botanix raised approximately A$23m through two oversubscribed equity placements from institutional 
and sophisticated investors in February 2018 and June 2018.  Additionally, the Company received an R&D 
tax incentive of A$1.6m in January 2018.  Botanix invested more than A$10m in R&D activities, primarily 
associated with BTX 1503 and BTX 1204 clinical programs and development pipeline products.  Botanix 
remains focused on investing in the development of key clinical programs, rather than administrative 
overheads, highlighting the clear priority on prudent cash management.  At 30 June 2018, Botanix held 
A$17.2m in cash. 
 
SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF AFFAIRS 
 
Other than as mentioned in the Review of Operations, no significant changes in the state of affairs of the 
Consolidated Entity occurred during the financial year. 

EVENTS SINCE THE END OF THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 
There have been matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the period which significantly 
affected or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the 
state of affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years. 
 
ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION 
 
The Directors have considered compliance with the National Greenhouse and Energy Reporting Act 2007 
which requires entities to report annual greenhouse gas emissions and energy use. For the year ended 30 
June 2018 the Directors have assessed that there are no current reporting requirements, but may be 
required to do so in the future. 
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 
During the financial year, the Company has paid a premium of $18,576 excluding GST (2017: $12,710) to 
insure the Directors and secretary of the Company. 
 
The liabilities insured are legal costs that may be incurred in defending civil or criminal proceedings that 
may be brought against the officers in their capacity as officers of the Company, and any other payments 
arising from liabilities incurred by the officers in connection with such proceedings.  This does not include 
such liabilities that arise from conduct involving a wilful breach of duty by the officers or the improper use 
by the officers of their position or of information to gain advantage for themselves or someone else or to 
cause detriment to the Company. 
 
DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN THE SHARES AND OPTIONS OF THE COMPANY 
 
As at the date of this report, the interests of the Directors in ordinary shares and unlisted options of the 
Company were: 
 

 Shares Options 
   
Director Held Directly Held Indirectly Held Directly Held 

 Matthew Callahan - 70,738,307 - - 
Graham Griffiths - 3,700,000 - 4,053,990 
William Bosch 15,500,000 - - 8,107,979 
Mr Robert Towner - 749,986 - 4,053,990 
Total 15,500,000 75,188,293 - 16,215,959 

 

 

MEETINGS OF DIRECTORS 
 
The number of meetings of the Company’s Directors held during the year and the numbers of meetings 
attended by each Director are: 
 

Board of Directors Meetings 
Attended 

Meetings 
Eligible to Attend 

Graham Griffiths 6 6 
Matthew Callahan 6 6 
William Bosch 6 6 
Mr Robert Towner 6 6 
   

 
The Company has formed a Nomination and Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee. No 
separate meetings of the Committees were held during the year. During the year the business of the 
Committees was conducted ty the full Board in conjunction with Board meetings.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) 
 
This report outlines the remuneration arrangements in place for Directors and key management 
personnel of the Company for the year ended 30 June 2018. The information contained in this report has 
been audited as required by section 308(3C) of the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The remuneration report is set out under the following main headings: 
 
●  Remuneration Policy 
●  Remuneration Governance 
●  Remuneration Structure 
●  Non-Executive Remuneration 
●  Executive Service agreements 
●  Performance-Based Remuneration 
●  Additional information 
●  Additional disclosures relating to key management personnel 
 
The information provided includes remuneration disclosures that are required under Accounting Standard 
AASB 124 “Related Party Disclosures”.  These disclosures have been transferred from the Financial Report. 
 
This remuneration report details the remuneration arrangements for key management personnel (“KMP”) 
who are defined as those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and 
controlling the major activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether 
executive or otherwise) of the Company, and includes the following specified executives in the Company: 
 
Key Management Personnel 
 
Directors: 

 
Mr Graham Griffiths Non-Executive Chairman (appointed 1 July 2016) 
Mr Matthew Callahan Executive Director (appointed 1 July 2016) 
Dr William Bosch  Executive Director (appointed 1 July 2016) 
Mr Robert Towner Non-Executive Director (appointed 24 January 2014) 
 

Executive 
 

Dr Michael Thurn  Chief Operating Officer (appointed 14 February 2017) 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED) 
 
Remuneration Policy  
The Company recognises the importance of structuring the remuneration packages of its Directors’ and 
Executives so as to attract and retain people with the qualifications, skills and experience to help the 
company achieve the required objectives. However, the Company understands that whilst it is still in its 
current phase, a prudent position must be observed in the total remuneration expense.  
 
All remuneration paid to Directors and Executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. 
Options are valued using the Black-Scholes methodology. 
 
Remuneration Governance 
The Board has established a Remuneration Committee which provides advice on remuneration and 
incentive policies and practices and specific recommendations on remuneration packages and other 
terms of employment for Executive Directors, other senior Executives and Non-Executive Directors. No 
separate meetings of the Committees were held during the year. During the year the business of the 
Committees was conducted ty the full Board in conjunction with Board meetings 
 
Remuneration Structure 
In accordance with best practice corporate governance, the structure of Non-Executive Director and 
Executive remuneration is separate and distinct. 
 
Non-Executive Director Remuneration 
Fees and payments to Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the 
responsibilities of, the Directors. Non-Executive Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by 
the Board. The Chairman’s fees are determined independently to the fees of Non-Executive Directors 
based on comparative roles in the external market. The Chairman is not present at any discussions 
relating to determination of his own remuneration. 
 
The total amount paid to Non-Executive Directors is determined by the board from time to time for 
presentation to and resolution by shareholders in General Meeting. The current approved maximum 
aggregate remuneration payable to Non-Executive Directors is $300,000 per year.  
 
The Directors are paid a set amount per year and apart from reimbursement of expenses incurred on the 
company’s behalf, are not eligible for any additional payments. 

Long-term performance incentives comprise options granted in order to align the objectives of directors 
with shareholders and the Company. The issue of options to Directors requires shareholder approval.   
 
Executive Remuneration 
Remuneration packages for the Executive Directors and senior Executives are designed by, and approved 
by the Board. The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the Executive Directors and 
other senior Executives, was developed by, and approved by the board.  
 
Senior Executives when employed receive a fixed salary, and from time to time, options and bonus 
payments based on the achievement of specified individual performance criteria.  
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Performance-Based Remuneration 
There is no correlation between the company’s performance and remuneration paid to its Executive 
Directors, Non-Executive Directors, Senior Executive and employees. When the Board deems it 
appropriate to, equity based remuneration may be granted to Directors and Executives (subject to 
shareholder approval if appropriate). 
 
Assessing performance and claw-back of remuneration  
 
The remuneration committee is responsible for assessing performance against KPIs and determining any 
STI and LTI to be paid. To assist in this assessment, the committee may receive detailed reports on 
performance from management which are based on independently verifiably data such as financial 
measures, market share and data from independently run surveys. 
 
In the event of serious misconduct or a material misstatement in the company’s financial statements, the 
remuneration committee may cancel or defer performance-based remuneration and may also claw back 
performance-based remuneration paid in previous financial years. 
 
Relationship between the remuneration policy and Company performance 
 
The remuneration policy has been tailored to increase goal congruence between shareholders, Directors 
and Executives.  
The Company operates an Employee Securities Incentive Plan (“ESIP”) for eligible participants of the 
Group. 
 
Under the ESIP the Company may, at the discretion of the Directors, offer eligible participants securities 
on the terms and conditions stated in an offer letter. A security granted under the ESIP may be a plan 
share, option, performance right or other convertible security as defined in the ESIP. The securities may 
only be granted to eligible participants after the Board considers the person’s seniority, position, length 
of service, potential contribution and any other matters which the Board considers relevant. 
 
A participant in an equity based remuneration plan operated by the Company must not enter into a 
transaction (whether through the use of derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of 
participating in the equity based remuneration plan. 
 
 
Security based payment arrangements granted to date 
Options 
 In accordance with the provisions of the ESIP, executives and senior employees have been granted 
options to purchase ordinary shares at an exercise price determined by the Board with regard to the 
market value of the shares when the options were issued.  
 
Each share option converts into one ordinary share of the Company on exercise. No amounts were paid 
to the Company by the recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights to dividends 
nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the date of expiry.  
 
To date options granted vest progressively over the life of the options. Options granted under the ESIP 
expire within thirty six months of issue. Unvested options expire immediately on the resignation of the 
eligible participant, unless otherwise determined by the Board.  
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED) 
 
Executive Service Contracts 
There were three service agreements in place throughout the year.  
 
Executive Directors 
 
Mr Matthew Callahan 
The Company has a consultancy agreement with Bocca Consulting Pty Ltd for providing consulting of a 
Key Employee (Mr Callahan). The Term of the agreement is three (3) year term (effective 1 July 2016), 
unless terminated earlier in accordance with the agreement. 
 
Under the terms of the present contract, as disclosed to the ASX on 13 May 2016. 
 

- The total consultancy fee payable to Bocca Consulting in respect of 30 hours of consultancy 
services per month (Minimum Time Commitment), is a salary of US$100,000 per annum (GST 
exclusive) 

- Commencing in 2017, the consultancy fee will be reviewed 4 weeks before every annual general 
meeting of the Company 

- The consideration payable to Bocca Consulting for any consultancy services performed in excess 
of the Minimum Time Commitment is an additional consultancy fee of US$150 per hour (GST 
exclusive) 

- Termination by the Company or Bocca Consulting has notice period of 6 months 
 
Dr William Bosch 
Dr Bosch is engaged as a consultant of the Company pursuant to a consultancy agreement between the 
Company and Dr Bosch. The Term of the agreement is three (3) year term (effective 1 July 2016), unless 
terminated earlier in accordance with the agreement. 
 
Under the terms of the contract: 
 

- The total consultancy fee payable to Dr Bosch in respect of 30 hours of consultancy services per 
month (Minimum Time Commitment), is a salary of US$100,000 per annum (GST exclusive). 

- Commencing in 2017, the consultancy fee will be reviewed 4 weeks before every annual general 
meeting of the Company. 

- The consideration payable to Dr Bosch for any consultancy services performed in excess of the 
Minimum Time Commitment is an additional consultancy fee of US$150 per hour (GST exclusive). 

- Termination by the Company or Dr Bosch has notice period of 6 months. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED) 
 
Chief Operating Officer 
 
Mr Michael Thurn 
Dr. Thurn is engaged as a consultant of the Company pursuant to a consultancy agreement between the 
Company and Dr. Thurn. The Term of the original agreement was one (1) year term (effective 1 February 
2017), unless terminated earlier in accordance with the agreement. The contract has been extended by 
agreement with no fixed expiry date. 
 
Under the terms of the present agreement. 
 

• The total consultancy fee payable to Dr Thurn in respect of 3 days of consultancy services per 
week (Minimum Time Commitment), is a fee of AUD$16,000 per month (GST exclusive). 

• The consideration payable to Dr Thurn for any consultancy services performed in excess of the 
Minimum Time Commitment is an additional consultancy fee of AUD$1,200 per day (GST 
exclusive). 

• Termination by the Company or Dr Thurn has notice period of 1 month. 

Non-Executive Directors 
Upon appointment to the Board, all Non-Executive Directors enter into a service agreement with the 
Company in the form of a letter of appointment.  The letter summarises the policies and terms, including 
compensation, relevant to the office of Director. 
 
The key terms of the Non-Executive Director service agreements are as follows: 
 
• Term of agreement – ongoing subject to annual review. 
• Directors’ Fees of $55,000 per annum plus statutory superannuation. 
• There is no notice period stipulated to terminate the contract by either party. 

 
Use of remuneration consultants 
No Remuneration consultants were engaged during the financial year ending 30 June 2018. 
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REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED) 
 
Remuneration of Key Management Personnel 
Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the key management personnel (as defined in AASB 124 Related Party Disclosures) of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited are 
set out in the following table. 
 
Key Management Personnel of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited  
 

2018 Short Term Benefits Post-Employment 
Benefits 

Share Based 
Payments   

Key Management 
Personnel 

Salary and Fees 

$ 

Non-Monetary 

$ 

Superannuation 

$ 

Options 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Remuneration 
consisting of options 

% 
 Directors 
G. Griffiths  60,417 - 10,885 36,352 107,654 34% 
M Callahan 163,634 - - - 163,634 - 
W. Bosch 129,927 - - 72,705 202,632 36% 
R. Towner 55,000 - 5,225 36,352 96,577 38% 
 Executives 
M. Thurn 303,909 - - 80,315 384,224 21% 

Total 712,887 - 16,110 225,724 954,721 24% 
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2017 Short Term Benefits Post-Employment 
Benefits 

Share Based 
Payments   

Key Management 
Personnel 

Salary and Fees 

$ 

Non-Monetary 

$ 

Superannuation 

$ 

Options 

$ 

Total 

$ 

Remuneration 
consisting of options 

% 
 Directors 
G. Griffiths (1)  50,000 - - 19,142 69,142 28% 
M Callahan (1) 132,816 - - - 132,816 - 
W. Bosch (1) 132,816 - - 38,284 171,100 22% 
R. Towner  55,000 - 5,225 19,142 79,367 24% 
 Executives 
M. Thurn(2) 130,312 - - 19,237 149,549 13% 

Total 500,944 - 5,225 95,805 601,974 16% 
 

(1) Directors all appointed 1 July 2016. 
(2) Appointed 1 February 2017 



BOTANIX PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED 
ACN: 009 109 755 

 
DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
 

16 

 
REMUNERATION REPORT (AUDITED) (CONTINUED) 
 
Shareholdings of Key Management Personnel 
 
The movement in the number of ordinary shares of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited held, directly, 
indirectly or beneficially, by each Director and Key Management Personnel, including their personally-
related entities for the year ended 30 June 2018 is as follows: 
 

 
Held at 

1 July 2017 
Other Movements 

during the year 
Options 

Exercised 
Held at 

30 June 2018 
Directors     

G. Griffiths 3,500,000 200,000 (1) - 3,700,000 
M. Callahan  70,588,321 149,986 (1) - 70,738,307 
W. Bosch  15,300,000 200,000 (1) - 15,500,000 
R. Towner  1,499,972 (749,986) (2) - 749,986 
Executives     
M Thurn  - 200,000 2,096,608 2,296,608 
Total 90,888,293 - 2,096,608 92,984,901 

 
(1) Acquired during the financial year off market 
(2) Sold during the financial year off market 
 
Option holdings of Key Management Personnel 

 
The movement in the number of options of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited held, directly, indirectly or 
beneficially, by each Director and Key Management Personnel, including their personally-related entities 
for the year ended 30 June 2018 is as follows: 
 

 
Held at 

1 July 2017 

Granted as 
Compensation 

Options 
Exercised 

Other 
Movements 

during the year 
Held at 

30 June 2018 

Vested and 
Exercisable 

at 30 June 2018 
Directors       

G. Griffiths 4,053,990 - - - 4,053,990 1,351,330 
M. Callahan  - - - - - - 
W. Bosch 8,107,979 - - - 8,107,979 2,702,660 
R. Towner 4,053,990 - - - 4,053,990 1,351,330 
Executives       
M. Thurn 6,486,384 - (2,096,608) (1,506,939)(1) 2,882,837 - 
Total 22,702,343 - (2,096,608) (1,506,939) 19,098,796 5,405,320 

 
(1) Options cancelled as a result of exercise of issued under cashless exercise facility. 
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The options granted to Directors in the year 30 June 2017 were for nil consideration as remuneration, 
exercisable at $0.0675 options with an expiry date of 30 November 2019.They vested progressively over 
3 years on 30 November of each year. The value per option was $0.0269. 

They were valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

16,215,959 

Grant date share price $0.045 
Exercise price $0.0675 
Expected volatility 110% 
Option life 3 years 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.91% 

 
The options granted to the Chief Operating Officer in the year 30 June 2017 were for nil consideration as 
remuneration, exercisable at $0.053 options with an expiry date of 8 May 2018. The value per option 
was $0.02007 vesting on 8 May 2018.   
 
They were valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 
 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

2,162,128 

Grant date share price $0.051 
Exercise price $0.053 
Expected volatility 105% 
Option life 1 year 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.56% 

 
The options granted to the Chief Operating Officer in the year 30 June 2017 were for nil consideration as 
remuneration, exercisable at $0.070 options with an expiry date of 8 May 2020. The value per option 
was $0.02998 vesting on 8 May 2020.  They vested progressively over 3 years on 8 May of each year.   
 
They were valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 

 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

4,324,256 

Grant date share price $0.051 
Exercise price $0.070 
Expected volatility 105% 
Option life 3 years 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.80% 
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Shares issued to Key Management Personnel on Exercise of Compensation Options 
No shares were issued to directors on exercise of compensation options during the year. 
 
Remuneration Consultants 
The Board did not use the services of remuneration consultants during the year in determining the 
compensation for Directors and Executives. 
 
Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 
Transactions with other key management personnel are made on normal commercial terms and 
conditions and at market rates.  

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Payments to director-related parties:    
Austin 4 Pty Ltd (i) - 3,300 

 
i. Austin 4 Pty Ltd (Mr Robert Towner – Non-Executive Director) 

The Company entered into an agreement with Austin 4 to provide corporate administration services to 
the Company commencing from 1st February 2016. For the year ended 30 June 2018 nil was due (2017: 
$3,300 (GST Inclusive)). This agreement has been terminated. 
 
Loans to Key Management Personnel  
No loans have been made to key management personnel, including their personally related parties, of 
Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited.  
 
Voting and comments made at the Company’s 2017 Annual General Meeting 
The Company received more than 75% of “yes” votes on its remuneration report for the 2017 financial 
year. The Company did not receive any specific feedback at the AGM or throughout the year on its 
remuneration practices. 
 
**********END OF AUDITED REMUNERATION REPORT********** 
 
LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS & EXPECTED RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Other than as disclosed elsewhere in this report, there are no likely developments in the operations of the 
Company that were not finalised at the date of this report.  
 
AUDITOR 
 
BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd continues in office in accordance with Section 327 of the Corporation Act 2001.  
 
AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION 
 
The auditor’s independence declaration as required under section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 for 
the year ended 30 June 2018 has been received and can be found on page 20. 
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PROCEEDINGS ON BEHALF OF THE COMPANY 
 
No person has applied to the Court under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001 for leave to bring 
proceedings on behalf of the Company, or to intervene in any proceedings to which the Company is a 
party, for the purpose of taking responsibility on behalf of the Company for all or part of those 
proceedings. 

No proceedings have been brought to or intervened in on behalf of the Company with leave of the Court 
under section 237 of the Corporations Act 2001. 

NON-AUDIT SERVICES 
 
The Company may decide to employ the auditor on assignments additional to their statutory audit 
duties where the auditor’s expertise and experience with the Company are important. 
 
The Directors are satisfied that the provision of non-audit services is compatible with the general standard 
of independence for auditors imposed by the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
SHARE OPTIONS   
 
Shares under Option 
 
At the date of this report there are unissued shares under option outstanding. 

Date Granted Expiry Date Exercise Price 
Number of shares  

under option 
30 June 2016 30 June 2019 $0.030 13,000,000 

1 December 2016 1 December 2019 $0.068 16,215,959 
19 January 2017 19 January 2020 $0.057 6,738,652 

8 May 2017 8 May 2020 $0.070 4,243,165 
Total   40,197,776 

 
These options do not entitle the holders to participate in any share issue of the Company or any other 
body corporate.   
 
During the current year 5,808,266 ordinary shares were issued as a result of the exercise of share options 
(2017: nil).  
 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
 

 
 
Matthew Callahan    
Executive Director        
 
21 September 2018



BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd ABN 79 112 284 787 is a member of a national association of independent entities which are all members of BDO Australia Ltd ABN 77 050 110 275,
an Australian company limited by guarantee. BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd and BDO Australia Ltd are members of BDO International Ltd, a UK company limited by guarantee, and
form part of the international BDO network of independent member firms. Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation other than for
the acts or omissions of financial services licensees
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38 Station Street
Subiaco, WA 6008
PO Box 700 West Perth WA 6872
Australia

DECLARATION OF INDEPENDENCE BY DEAN JUST TO THE DIRECTORS OF BOTANIX
PHARMACEUTICALS LIMITED

As lead auditor of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited for the year ended 30 June 2018, I declare that, to
the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been:

1. No contraventions of the auditor independence requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 in
relation to the audit; and

2. No contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.

This declaration is in respect of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited and the entities it controlled during
the period.

Dean Just

Director

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Perth, 21 September 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

For the year ended 30 June 2018 
 

Note  
  

  2018 2017 
  $ $ 

Revenue from continuing operation    
Interest income 3 88,166 46,501 
Fee income  145,005 - 
Total revenue from continuing operations  233,171 46,501 
Other revenue    
Research and Development incentive scheme  1,632,913 - 
Total revenue  1,866,084 46,501 
    
Employee expenses  (436,039) (379,899) 
Finance expenses  (2,502) (3,225) 
Other expenses  (62,582) (80,944) 
Professional Consulting expense   (763,796) (428,093) 
Travel expense  (235,252) (165,718) 
Research and Development expenses  (11,041,427) (3,650,525) 
Foreign exchange gain/loss  44,966 (10,218) 
Fair value on foreign exchange forward contract  20,444 - 
Share based payments 11 (401,709) (100,977) 
Total expenses 4 (12,877,897) (4,819,599) 
    
Loss before income tax expense  (11,011,813) (4,773,098) 
    
Income tax benefit 5 - - 
    
Loss after income tax for the year  (11,011,813) (4,773,098) 
    
Other Comprehensive Income for the year:    
    
Items that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:    
Foreign exchange translation difference  6,268 12,711 
Other Comprehensive income for the period, net of tax  6,268 12,711 
Total Comprehensive Loss for the year attributed to 
members of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited   (11,005,545) (4,760,387) 

 

 
 
 
The above Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income should be read in 

conjunction with the accompanying notes 
  

Loss per share for the year attributable to members of 
Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited  

 
 

    
Basic and diluted loss per share (cents) 14 

 
(2.26) (1.10) 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at 30 June 2018 

 
 Note  
  2018 2017 
  $ $ 
ASSETS    
Current Assets    
Cash & cash equivalents 6 17,263,408 5,720,514 
Trade and other receivables 7 426,637 186,909 
Financial asset  20,444 - 
Total Current Assets  17,710,489 5,907,423 
Total Assets  17,710,489 5,907,423 
    
LIABILITIES    
Current Liabilities    
Trade and other payables 8 1,425,598 470,600 
Total Current Liabilities  1,425,598 470,600 

Total Liabilities  1,425,598 470,600 
    
Net Assets  16,284,891 5,436,823 
    
EQUITY    
Contributed equity 9 33,299,239 11,631,844 
Reserves 10 453,605 267,387 
Foreign currency translation reserve  25,335 19,067 
Accumulated losses 10 (17,493,288) (6,481,475) 
Total Equity  16,284,891 5,436,823 
    

The above Consolidated Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

The above Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 
Note Contributed 

Equity 
Accumulated 

Losses 
 

Reserves 
Translation 

Reserve 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2017  11,631,844 (6,481,475) 267,387 19,067 5,436,823 
       
Total comprehensive loss for the year       
Loss for the year  - (11,011,813) - - (11,011,813) 
Total other comprehensive income  - - - 6,268 6,268 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (11,011,813) - 6,268 (11,005,545) 
       
Transaction with equity holders:       
Ordinary shares issued net of costs 9 21,667,395 - - - 21,667,395 
Share based payment expense 10  - 186,218 - 186,218 
Balance at 30 June 2018  33,299,239 (17,493,288) 453,605 25,335 16,284,891 
       

 
Note Contributed 

Equity 
Accumulated 

Losses 
 

Reserves 
Translation 

Reserve 
Total 

  $ $ $ $ $ 
Balance at 1 July 2016  4,716,525 (1,708,377) 166,410 6,356 3,180,914 
       
Total comprehensive loss for the year       
Loss for the year  - (4,773,098) - - (4,773,098) 
Total other comprehensive income  - - - 12,711 12,711 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  - (4,773,098) - 12,711 (4,760,387) 
       
Transaction with equity holders:       
Ordinary shares issued net of costs 9 6,915,319 - - - 6,915,319 
Options issued during the year 10  - 100,977 - 100,977 
Balance at 30 June 2017  11,631,844 (6,481,475) 267,387 19,067 5,436,823 
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
For the year ended 30 June 2018 

 
 Note  

 

 2018 2017 

  $ $ 
CASHFLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES    
Interest received  107,539 31,277 
Fees received  145,005 - 
R&D tax concession received  1,632,913 - 
Research and Development  (10,361,883) (3,550,312) 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,430,081) (1,117,667 
Finance costs  (2,502) (3,225) 
Net cash (used in) operating activities 15 (9,909,009) (4,639,927) 
    
CASHFLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Capital raising costs  (1,656,088) (562,187) 
Proceeds from issue of shares & other equity securities 9 23,107,991 7,452,309 
Repayment of borrowings  - (181,667) 
Net cash provided by financing activities  21,451,903 6,708,455 
    
Net increase in cash held  11,542,894 2,068,528 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of financial year  5,720,514 3,651,986 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of financial year 6 17,263,408 5,720,514 

 
The above Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 

notes. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 1: REPORTING ENTITY 
 
Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) is a company domiciled in Australia.  The 
consolidated financial statements of the Company as at and for the year ended 30 June 2018 comprises 
the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”). 
 
A description of the nature of the Company’s operations and its principal activities is included in the 
Directors’ Report which does not form part of this financial report. 
 
NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 
This General Purpose Financial Report has been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards, other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board 
(including Australian Interpretations) and the Corporations Act 2001. 
 
The Financial Statements and Notes of the Company comply with Australian Accounting Standards, 
which include Australian equivalents to International Financial Reporting Standards (AIFRS). 
Compliance with AIFRS ensures that the Financial Statements and Notes comply with International 
Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited is a company limited by shares.  The financial report is presented in 
Australian currency. Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited is a for-profit entity. 
 
The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity 
of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal 
course of business.   
 
Critical Accounting Estimates and Significant Judgments  

The directors evaluate estimates and judgments incorporated in the financial statements based on 
historical knowledge and best available current information. Estimates assume a reasonable 
expectation of future events and are based on current trends and economic data, obtained both 
externally and within the group. 
 

(i) Deferred tax assets 

The Group expects to have carried forward tax losses which have not been recognised as deferred tax 
assets as it is not considered sufficiently probable that these losses will be recouped by means of 
future profits taxable in the relevant jurisdictions. 

(ii) Patent and development costs 

Expenditure on research activities are recognised as an expense in the period in which it is incurred. 
Development costs are accounted for using the cost model whereby capitalised costs are amortised 
on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 2: BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED) 
 
Critical Accounting Estimates and Significant Judgments (Continued) 

(iii) Impairment 

The investments held by the parent entity in its subsidiaries continue to be impaired as of 30 June 
2018 as the board has acknowledged it yet to commercialise the company’s projects and the decision 
was previously made to write down the assets carrying value.  

The group assesses impairment at each reporting date by evaluating conditions specific to the group 
that may lead to impairment of assets. Where an impairment trigger exists, the recoverable amount 
of the asset is determined. Value-in-use calculations performed in assessing recoverable amounts 
incorporate a number of key estimates.  

(iv)  Share based payments 

The consolidated entity measures the cost of equity-settled transactions by reference to the fair value 
of the equity instruments at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined by using 
either the Binomial or Black-Scholes model taking into account the terms and conditions upon which 
the instruments were granted. The accounting estimates and assumptions relating to equity-settled 
share-based payments would have no impact on the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within 
the next annual reporting period but may impact profit or loss and equity. 
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NOTE 3: REVENUE 

   
 

Note  

2018 2017 
   $ $ 
Interest   88,166 46,501 
Fee income   145,005 - 
   233,171 46,501 
Research and development incentive scheme   1,632,913 - 
Total revenue   1,866,084 46,501 

 
Accounting policy 
Interest income is recognised on a time proportion basis using the effective interest method. All other 
income is recognised when fees in respect of services rendered and earned, usually when services 
have been provided to customers. Fee income is stated net of the amount of Goods and Services 
Tax(GST). 
 
Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers of resources to the 
Company in return for past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating 
activities of the entity. Government grants include government assistance where there are no 
conditions specifically relating to the operating activities of the Company other than the requirement 
to operate in certain regions or industry sectors.  Government grants relating to income are 
recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs and grants 
relating to assets are regarded as a reduction in asset. Government grants that are receivable as 
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial 
support to the Company with no future related costs are recognised as income of the period in which 
it becomes receivable 
 
NOTE 4: EXPENSES 
 
Loss before Income Tax includes the following specific expenses:  

   
 

Note  

2018 2017 
   $ $ 
     
Corporate advisors   181,575 183,060 
Corporate investor advisory   410,099 65,076 
Other professional fees   172,122 179,957 
Finance expenses   2,502 3,225 
Employee Expenses   436,039 379,899 
Research and development   11,041,427 3,650,525 
Share based payments   401,709 100,977 
Other expenses   62,582 80,944 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

 
NOTE 5: INCOME TAX 

  2018 2017 
(a) Income tax expense  $ $ 
Current tax expense  - - 
Income tax expense  - - 
  - - 
    
(b) Reconciliation of tax expense to net profit before tax    
    
Loss before tax  (11,011,814) (4,762,880) 
    
Tax at the statutory rate of 27.5% (2017: 27.5%)  (3,028,249) (1,312,584) 
    
Tax effect of:    
Non-deductible expenses  3,146,862 1,031,664 
Income not assessable  (449,051) - 
Expenditure deductible for tax purposes  - - 
Effect of tax losses and tax offsets not recognised as 
deferred tax assets  330,437 280,920 

Income tax benefit  - - 
    
    
(c) Unrecognised deductible temporary differences   
    
Tax losses  399,672 334,525 
Other deferred amounts  (69,235) (53,603) 
  330,437 280,922 

 

 
No deferred tax asset is recognised in the statements of financial position as it is not probable that the 
Group will derive tax profits in the future to allow utilisation of the income tax benefits represented 
by the deferred tax asset. If tax profits are derived in future years, the tax losses and other tax benefits 
will be able to be offset against this income subject to the Company continuing to meet the relevant 
statutory tests.  
 
Accounting policy 
The income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in deferred 
tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

NOTE 5: INCOME TAX (CONTINUED) 
 

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising 
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial 
statements. However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition 
of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the 
transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined 
using the tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the reporting date 
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or the deferred 
income tax liability is settled. 

Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if 
it is probable that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and 
losses. 

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the carrying 
amount and tax bases of investments in controlled entities where the parent entity is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the differences will not 
reverse in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets and liabilities and when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation authority.  

Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to offset 
and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also 
recognised directly in equity. 

Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited has not elected to consolidate the Group under the Tax Consolidation 
Regime, however, the Company may elect to do so in the future. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 6: CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

   

   2018 2017 
   $ $ 

Cash at bank   17,263,408 5,720,514 
Total cash and cash equivalents(1)   17,263,408 5,720,514 

 

NOTE 7: TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
Current:     
Other receivables(1)   447,081 162,535 
Prepaid expenses(2)   - 24,374 
Total trade and other receivables (net of GST)   447,081 186,909 

(1) Other receivables are non-trade receivables, are non-interest bearing and have an average term of 
3 months and generally receivable from the ATO for GST.  
 
(2) Prepaid expenses relate to expenditure which have been pre-paid at year end and settle within 12 
months. 
 
The above amounts do not bear interest and their carrying amount is equivalent to their fair value. No 
trade and other receivables were impaired during the current year. 
 
Accounting policy 
Trade receivables are initially recognised at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method, less any provision for impairment. Trade receivables are generally 
due for settlement within 30 days. 
 
Collectability of trade receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Debts which are known to be 
uncollectable are written off by reducing the carrying amount directly. A provision for impairment of 
trade receivables is raised when there is objective evidence that the consolidated entity will not be 
able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of the receivables. Significant financial 
difficulties of the debtor, probability that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation 
and default or delinquency in payments (more than 60 days overdue) are considered indicators that 
the trade receivable may be impaired. The amount of the impairment allowance is the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted 
at the original effective interest rate. Cash flows relating to short-term receivables are not discounted 
if the effect of discounting is immaterial. 

Other receivables are recognised at amortised cost, less any provision for impairment. 

  

(1) Cash at bank is subject to floating interest rates at an effective interest rate of 1%. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 8: TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

   

   2018 2017 
   $ $ 
Current:     
Trade payables (1)   910,841 453,600 
Sundry payables & accrued expenses   514,757 17,000 
   1,425,598 470,600 

 

(1) Trade payables are non-interest bearing and are normally settled on 30-day terms. 
 
Accounting policy 
These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end of 
financial year which are unpaid. They are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently at 
amortised cost. The amounts are unsecured.  

NOTE 9: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 
 

(a) Issued and Paid Up Capital 

 2018 
Number 

2018 
$ 

2017 
Number 

2017 
$ 

Fully paid ordinary shares 757,424,658 33,299,239 543,111,296 11,631,844 

 
(b) Movements in fully paid shares on issue     
Balance as at 1 July 2017  543,111,296 11,631,844 
Exercise of options at $0.045 expiring 19 January 2018  3,035,993 136,620 
Placement at $0.11 per share  135,777,823 14,935,561 
Exercise of options at $0.053 expiring 9 May 2018   2,036,444 150,403 
Exercise of options at $0.07 expiring 9 May 2019  735,829 100,899 
Placement at $0.11 per share  72,727,273 8,000,000 
Capital raising costs  - (1,656,088) 
Balance as at 30 June 2018  757,424,658 33,299,239 
    
Balance as at 1 July 2016  405,514,770 4,716,525 
Capital raise at $0.02 per share  3,300,000 66,000 
Capital raising – tranche 1  97,932,890 5,386,309 
Capital raising – tranche 2  36,363,636 2,000,000 
Capital raising costs  - (536,990) 
Balance as at 30 June 2017  543,111,296 11,631,844 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 9: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 

 (c) Issued Options   
  Number 
Unlisted Options   40,197,776 
   
(d) Movements in options on issue    

Balance as at 1 July 2017  47,846,315 
Less: Exercise of options  (7,315,205) 
Less: Expiry of Unlisted Options on 19 January 2018  (333,334) 
Balance as at 30 June 2018  40,197,776 
    

Ordinary Shares 
 
Ordinary shares participate in dividends and the proceeds on winding up of the parent entity in 
proportion to the number of shares held. 

At shareholders meetings each ordinary share is entitled to one vote when a poll is called, otherwise 
each shareholder has one vote on a show of hands. 

Capital Risk Management 
 
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern 
and to progress development of its technologies toward commercialisation, so as to provide returns 
to shareholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce cost of capital. 
 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends 
paid to shareholders, return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets. 
 
The Group monitors capital on the basis of available working capital. The Group relies upon 
investment funding and equity raising in order to meet its working capital requirements so it may 
develop its technologies to a stage whereby future commercial benefits can be derived. 
 
 
 
 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 9: CONTRIBUTED EQUITY (CONTINUED) 
 
Accounting policy 
Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options for the acquisition of a business are not 
included in the cost of the acquisition as part of the purchase consideration.  

NOTE 10: RESERVES & ACCUMULATED LOSSES 
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  2018 2017 
  $ $ 
Share based payments reserve  453,605 267,387 
  453,605 267,387 
    
Share based payments reserve    
Balance at beginning of year   267,387 166,410 
Share based expense - Director  146,604 84,457 
Share based expense - Employee  105,504 16,520 
Share based expense - Consultants  149,601 - 
Exercise of options under cashless exercise facility  (215,491) - 
Balance at end of year   453,605 267,387 
    
Foreign currency translation reserve    
Balance at beginning of year  19,067 6,356 
Effect for foreign currency translation during the year  6,268 12,711 
Balance at end of year  25,335 19,067 

 
Share Based Payments Reserve 
The share based payments includes the following: 
 
• Items recognised as expenses on valuation of employee and director share options but not 

exercised. 
 

• Options issued to non-related parties in exchange for cash or services but not yet exercised. 

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve 
The foreign currency translation reserve includes the following: 
 
• Effect of foreign currency translation of foreign subsidiary at year end 

 
 

  2018 2017 
  $ $ 
Accumulated Losses     
Movements in accumulated losses were as follows:    
Balance at beginning of year  (6,481,475) (1,708,377) 
Net loss for the year – continuing operations  (11,011,813) (4,773,098) 
Balance at end of year  (17,493,288) (6,481,475) 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 
NOTE 11: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS 
 
Employee Securities Incentive Plan (“ESIP”) 
The ESIP was approved by shareholders on 14 June 2016 at a General Meeting. In accordance with the 
provisions of the ESIP, the executives and senior employees may be granted options to purchase 
ordinary shares at an exercise price determined by the Board with regard to the market value of the 
shares when it resolves to offer the options. The options may only be granted to eligible participants 
after the Board considers the person’s seniority, position, length of service, potential contribution and 
any other matters which the Board considers relevant. 
 
Each share option converts into one ordinary share of the Company on exercise. No amounts are paid 
or payable to the Company by the recipient on receipt of the option. The options carry neither rights 
to dividends nor voting rights. Options may be exercised at any time from the date of vesting to the 
date of expiry. The number of options granted are determined by the Board. 
 

Description 
2018 

Number 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price  
2017 

Number 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
      
      
Options      
Opening balance 47,846,315 0.0081  22,540,856 0.0699 
Issued during the period remuneration - -  34,846,315 0.0625 
Exercised during the period (7,315,165) (0.1569)  - - 
Expired during the period (333,334) (0.0450)  (9,540,856) (0.1243) 
Balance at 30 June 40,197,776 (0.1482)  47,846,315 0.0081 

 
Total expenses arising from share-based payment transactions recognised during the year were as 
follows: 

   

  2018 2017 
  $   $ 
Share-based payments:    
    
Recognised Directly in Equity    
    
16,215,959 Unlisted Options issued to Directors  146,604 84,457 
18,630,356 Unlisted Options issued to Employees  105,504 16,520 
13,000,000 (post-consolidation) Unlisted Options 
issued to Directors 

 149,601 - 

    

Total Share Based Payments  401,709 100,977 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 11: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
2017 

(i) Options (valued at $0.0269) vesting on 30 November each year for 3 years, were issued 
to the Directors were valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

16,215,959 

Grant date share price $0.0675 
Exercise price $0.045 
Expected volatility 110% 
Option life 3 years 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.91% 

(ii) Options (valued at $0.02007) vesting on 8 May 2018, were issued to the Consultants were 
valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

2,837,784 

Grant date share price $0.051 
Exercise price $0.053 
Expected volatility 105% 
Option life 1 year 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.56% 

(iii) Options (valued at $0.02998) vesting on 8 May each year for 3 years, were issued to the 
Consultants were valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

5,684,584 

Grant date share price $0.051 
Exercise price $0.070 
Expected volatility 105% 
Option life 3 years 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.80% 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 11: SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED) 

 
2017 
 

(iv) Options (valued at $0.01823) vesting on 19 January 2018, were issued to the Consultants 
were valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

3,369,327 

Grant date share price $0.045 
Exercise price $0.045 
Expected volatility 105% 
Option life 3 years 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.56% 

 

(v) Options (valued at $0.02714) vesting on 18 January each year for 3 years, were issued to 
the Consultants were valued using Black Scholes with the below assumptions: 

 Unlisted options 
Number of options in 
series 

6,738,652 

Grant date share price $0.045 
Exercise price $0.057 
Expected volatility 105% 
Option life 3 years 
Dividend yield 0.00% 
Interest rate 1.80% 

 

Accounting policy 
 
Equity Settled Compensation 
The Group operates an equity-settled share-based payment employee option scheme and, 
subject to shareholder approval, provides options to Directors from time to time. The fair value 
of the option to which Directors and employees become entitled is measured at grant date and 
recognised as an expense over the vesting period, with a corresponding increase to an equity 
account. The fair value of options is ascertained using an appropriate pricing model which 
incorporates all market vesting conditions. The number of options expected to vest is reviewed 
and adjusted at each reporting date such that the amount recognised for services received as 
consideration for the options granted shall be based on the number of options that eventually 
vest. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 12: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS  
 
(a) Parent Entities 

The parent entity of the Group is Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited. The ultimate Australian parent 
entity in the group is Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited which at 30 June 2018 owns 100% of the issued 
ordinary shares of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Inc. (incorporated in Delaware, United States of America) 
and 100% of the issued ordinary shares of Bone Limited (incorporated in Jersey, Channel Islands).  

(b) Subsidiaries 

Interests in subsidiaries are set out in Note 19 Subsidiaries. 

 (c)  Loans Due to Subsidiaries 
 
Loans between entities in the wholly owned Group are not interest bearing are payable upon 
demand. 
 
 (d) Key Management Personnel Compensation 

The aggregated compensation paid to Directors and Key Management Personnel of the Group is as 
follows: 

                            2018                   2017 
                               $                      $ 

Short term employee benefits 712,887 500,944 
Post-employment benefits 16,110 5,225 
Non-monetary benefits - - 
Share based payment 225,724 95,805 

 954,721 601,974 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 12: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (CONTINUED) 
 
(e)  Other transactions with Key Management Personnel 
Transactions with other key management personnel are made on normal commercial terms and 
conditions and at market rates.  

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Payments to director-related parties:    
Austin 4 Pty Ltd (i) - 3,300 

 
i. Cornerstone Corporate Pty Ltd (Mr Robert Towner – Non-Executive Director) 

ii. The Company entered into an agreement with Austin 4 to provide corporate administration 
services to the Company commencing from 1st February 2016. For the year ended 30 June 
2018 nil was due (2017: $3,300 (GST Inclusive)). This agreement has been terminated. 

 
(f) Loans to Key Management Personnel 
 
No loans have been made to key management personnel, including their personally related parties, 
of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited.   
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 13: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
The Group’s activities are exposed to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including interest rate 
risk, currency risk, credit risk and liquidity risk). The Group’s overall risk management program focuses 
on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the 
financial performance of the Group. The Group uses different methods to measure different types of 
risk to which it is exposed. Risk management is carried out by the Board of Directors. 
 
Financial Risk 
 
The main risks the Group is exposed to through financial instruments are market risk (including 
currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity risk, and credit risk).  
 
The Group holds the following financial instruments: 
 

  

  2018 2017 
  $ $ 
Financial assets     
Cash and cash equivalents  17,263,408 5,720,514 
Other receivables  447,081 186,909 
Total financial assets  17,710,489 5,907,423 
    
Financial liabilities    
Trade and other payables  1,425,598 470,600 
Total financial liabilities  1,425,598 470,600 
    

 
(a) Market Risk 

 
 (i) Foreign Exchange Risk 
 

The group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising mainly from its 
exposure to the United States dollar. The Group may also be exposed to one-off transactional flows 
which occur on an ad hoc basis in other foreign exchange currencies. 
 
Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency, and changes in value of 
convertible note liability and convertible note derivative. The risk is measured using sensitivity analysis 
and cashflow forecasting. From time to time, the Group will enter into forward foreign exchange 
contracts to lock in attractive rates for the US dollar for working capital purposes. 
 
Foreign exchange risk is managed by the Board with an overall responsibility to minimising its effect 
on the expenditure of the Group. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 13: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
Group Sensitivity 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities are all denominated in Australian 
dollars. 
 

(ii) Cash flow interest rate risk 
 
The Group’s main interest rate risk arises from interest bearing cash deposits.  
 
The Group’s exposure to interest rate risk, which is the risk that a financial instrument’s value will 
fluctuate as a result of changes in market interest rates and the effective weighted average interest 
rates on classes of financial assets and financial liabilities, is as follows: 
  2018                   2017                 
  %   $  %   $ 
Financial assets       
Cash assets Floating rate 0.82% 17,263,408  2.15% 5,720,514 
 
The Group invests surplus cash in at call or term deposit accounts with internationally recognised 
financial institutions. Interest rate risk is managed by the selection of term deposit interest rates and 
terms that reflect management's market expectations, to terms not exceeding 12 months.  Funds are 
only held at call when it is reasonably expected that those amounts will be required prior to existing 
term deposits reaching maturity. 
 
Group Sensitivity 
If the weighted average interest rates had changed on the instruments in the above tables by 
plus/minus 75 basis points the effect to the Groups post-tax loss for the year would have been $80,427 
(2017: $42,900) lower/higher.  
 
The method used to arrive at the possible change of 75 basis points was conservatively based on the 
analysis of the absolute nominal change of the Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) monthly issued cash 
rate.  Historical rates indicate that for the past five financial years, there was a bias towards a decrease 
in interest rate ranging between 0 to 50 basis points.  It is considered that 75 basis points is a 
‘reasonably possible’ estimate as it more than accommodates for the maximum variations inherent in 
the interest rate movement over the past five years. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 13: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 (b) Credit Risk  
 
Credit risk is managed on a group basis. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents and deposits 
with banks and financial institutions as well as receivables for subsidiaries. The Board manages credit 
risk by ensuring that the banks and financial institutions where cash and deposits are held are 
independently rated parties with a minimum rating of ‘A’.   
 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying amount of the financial 
assets as summarised on page 42. The credit quality of financial assets that are neither past due or 
impaired can be assessed by reference to historical information about counterparty default risk.  All 
financial assets are with customers with no history of default and have been customers for greater 
than six months. 
 
 
(c)  Liquidity Risk and Liquidity Risk Management 
 
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash to support the activities of the 
Company. The Group manages liquidity risk by continuously monitoring forecasted and actual cash 
flows.  
 
The Board monitors rolling forecasts of the Company’s liquidity on the basis of expected cash flow.  
 
Maturities of financial liabilities 
 
The tables below analyse the Group’s and the parent entity’s financial liabilities based on the 
remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the 
table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. 
 

 

Less than 6 
months 

6 - 12 
months 

Greater 
than 12 
months 

Total 
contractual 
Cashflows 

Carrying 
Amount 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Group - At 30 June 2018      
Financial liabilities  1,425,598 - - 1,425,598 1,425,598 

      
 

 

Less than 6 
months 

6 - 12 
months 

Greater 
than 12 
months 

Total 
contractual 
Cashflows 

Carrying 
Amount 

 $ $ $ $ $ 

Group - At 30 June 2017      
Financial liabilities  470,600 - - 470,600 470,600 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 13: FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED) 
 
(d)  Fair Value Estimation 

The Group does not have any financial assets or financial liabilities measured at fair value. 
 

Accounting policy: 

(i) Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which that entity operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Australian dollars which is Botanix 
Pharmaceuticals Limited’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
(ii) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year end exchange rates of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the profit or loss. 
 
(iii) Group companies 
The results and financial position of all the Group entities (none of which has the currency of a 
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation currency 
are translated into the presentation currency as follows: 
• Assets and liabilities for each reporting date presented are translated at the closing rate at the 

date of that statements of financial position; 
• Income and expenses for each Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income are 

translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable approximation of the 
cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and 

• all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity. 
 

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in foreign 
entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such investments, 
are taken to shareholders equity. When a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of 
the net investment are repaid, a proportionate share of such exchange differences are recognised in 
the Profit or Loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale where applicable. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 14: LOSS PER SHARE 

   

   2018 2017 

   $ $ 
Continuing operations 
   

 
 

Basic and diluted loss per share – cents   (2.26) (1.10) 
Loss used in the calculation of basic and diluted loss per share (11,011,813) (4,773,599) 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during  

  

the year used in calculation of basic loss per share 488,096,862 434,195,513 
   
Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding 
during  

  

the year used in calculation of diluted loss per share 488,096,862 434,195,513 
 
Options outstanding during the year have not been taken into account in the calculation of the 
weighted average number of ordinary shares as they are not considered dilutive. 
 
Accounting policy 
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the 
company, excluding any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares, by the weighted average 
number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus elements in 
ordinary shares issued during the year and excluding treasury shares. 

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings per share to 
take into account the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with 
dilutive potential ordinary shares and the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that 
would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 15: OPERATING CASH FLOW INFORMATION 

   
  2018 2017 
  $ $ 

Loss for the year  (11,011,813) (4,773,098) 
    
Adjustments for:    
Non-cash finance costs    
Share based payments   401,709 100,977 

Fair value on foreign exchange forward contract 
 

(20,444) - 

Changes in assets and liabilities:    
(Increase) in trade and other receivables  (239,728) (142,155) 
Increase in trade and other payables  961,267 174,349 
Net cash flows used in operations  (9,909,009) (4,639,927) 

   
 
NOTE 16: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES 
 
As at 30 June 2018, and throughout the year then ended, the parent company of the Group was Botanix 
Pharmaceuticals Limited. 
 
Financial position 

 2018 
 

2017 
  $ $ 

Assets   
Current assets 18,071,060 6,249,927 
Total assets 18,071,060 6,249,927 
   
Liabilities    
Current liabilities 1,786,169 813,104 
Total liabilities 1,786,169 813,104 
Net Assets 16,284,891 5,436,823 
   
Equity   
Issued capital 32,241,319 10,573,924 
Accumulated losses  (16,410,033) (5,404,488) 
Reserves    
Share-based payments 453,605 267,387 
Total Equity  16,284,891 5,436,823 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 16: PARENT ENTITY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED) 
 
Financial performance  

 
2018 

$ 
2017 

$ 
Loss for the period (11,005,545) (4,925,249) 
Total comprehensive loss  (11,005,545) (4,925,249) 

 
NOTE 17: SEGMENT INFORMATION 
 
AASB 8 requires a ‘management approach’ under which segment information is presented on the 
same basis as that used for internal reporting purposes by the chief operating decision maker.  
 
The Group’s chief operation decision makers have been identified as the Board of Directors. Operating 
segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Board 
of directors.  
 
The Board of Directors reviews the financial and operating performance of the primarily from a 
Transactional, Research and Development and a corporate perspective.  
 
The segment report for the reporting period ending 30 June 2018 is as follows: 
 
 

  Research &   
  Development Corporate  Consolidated 
2018  $ $ $ 
Segment Performance     
Other income  145,005 - 145,005 
Research and development grant  1,632,913 - 1,632,913 
Net other costs  (11,041,427) (1,748,304) (12,789,731) 
Segment net profit / (loss) before tax as 
per statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income  

 
(9,263,509) (1,748,304) (11,011,813) 

    
Segment Assets     
Total assets as per statement of financial 
position 

 - 17,710,489 17,710,489 

     
Segment Liabilities     
Total liabilities as per statement of 
financial position 

 1,225,055 200,543 1,425,598 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 17: SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 

  Research &   
  Development Corporate  Consolidated 
2017  $ $ $ 
Segment Performance     
Other income  - - - 
Net other costs  (3,650,525) (1,122,573) (4,773,098) 
Segment net profit / (loss) before tax 
as per statement of profit or loss and 
other comprehensive income  

 
(3,650,525) (1,122,573) (4,773,098) 

    
Segment Assets     
Total assets as per statement of financial 
position 

 - 5,907,423 5,907,423 

     
Segment Liabilities     
Total liabilities as per statement of 
financial position 

 398,962 71,638 470,600 

 
Accounting policy 
Operating segments are reported in a manner that is consistent with the internal reporting provided 
to the Board of directors. The Board, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing 
performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the strategic steering committee. 

NOTE 18: AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 
  

 2018 2017 
 $ $ 
Amounts payable to auditor     

Audit and review services - payable to BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd 36,555 31,855 
 36,555 31,855 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 19: SUBSIDIARIES 

Name of Entity Country of Incorporation 
Class of 
Shares 

Equity 
Holding 

   2018  
   %  
     
Botanix Pharmaceuticals 
Inc. 

Delaware, United States of 
America Ordinary 100  

Bone Limited Jersey, Channel Islands Ordinary 100  
  Preference 100  
     

 
The proportion of ownership interest is equal to the proportion of voting power held. 
 
NOTE 20: EVENTS OCCURRING AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 
No other matters or circumstances have arisen since the end of the period which significantly affected 
or may significantly affect the operations of the Group, the results of those operations or the state of 
affairs of the Group in subsequent financial years. 
 
NOTE 21: CONTINGENT LIABILITIES 
The Directors are not aware of any contingent liabilities that may arise from the Group’s operations as 
at 30 June 2018. 
 
NOTE 22: OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
The significant policies which have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report are: 
 

(a)  Principles of Consolidation 
Subsidiaries 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the assets and liabilities of all subsidiaries of 
Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited (parent entity) as at 30 June 2018 and the results of all subsidiaries 
for the year then ended. Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited and its subsidiaries together are referred to 
in these financial statements as the Group or the consolidated entity. 

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the group has control. The group 
controls an entity when the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the activities of 
the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the 
group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 22: OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the 
impairment of the assets transferred. Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. 

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment in the individual financial 
statements of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited. 

(b) Impairment of Assets 

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and 
are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An impairment loss is 
recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. For the 
purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash inflows from other 
assets or group of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill that 
suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

(c) Financial Assets 

(i) Classification 

The only type of financial assets held by the Group is loans and receivables. 

(ii) Loans and receivables  

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market and are recognised initially at fair value. They are included in 
current assets, except for those with maturities greater than 12 months after the reporting date which 
are classified as non-current assets. Loans and receivables are included within trade and other 
receivables (Note 7) in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

(iii) Recognition and de-recognition 

Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date – the date on which the 
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Investments are initially recognised at fair value plus 
transaction costs for all financial assets not carried at fair value through profit or loss.  

(iv) Subsequent measurement 

Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.  
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 22: OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(v) Impairment  

The Group assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. If there is evidence of impairment for any of the Group’s 
financial assets carried at amortised cost, the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, excluding future credit losses 
that have been incurred. The cash flows are discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The loss is recognised in the Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income. 

(d) Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of associated GST, except where the 
amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office. In these circumstances 
the GST is recognised as part of the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of an item of the expense.  

Receivables and payables in the statements of financial position are stated inclusive of the amount of 
GST receivable or payable. Cash flows are presented in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis, 
except for the GST component of investing and financing activities, which are disclosed as operating 
cash flows. The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included 
with other receivables or payables in the statements of financial position. 

(e) Interest-bearing loans and borrowings  

All loans and borrowings are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received less 
directly attributable transaction costs. 

After initial recognition interest bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method. 

Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised. 

(f) New accounting standards and interpretations 

In the year ended 30 June 2018, the Directors have reviewed all of the new and revised Standards and 
Interpretations issued by the AASB that are relevant to its operations and effective for the current 
annual reporting year.  
 
It has been determined by the Directors that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and 
revised Standards and Interpretations on the Group’s business and, therefore, no change is necessary 
to Group accounting policies. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 22: OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 

(g) Standards and Interpretations not yet adopted 

The Directors have also reviewed all new Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are 
not yet effective for the year ended 30 June 2018. As a result of this review the Directors have 
determined that there is no impact, material or otherwise, of the new and revised Standards and 
Interpretations on the Group’s business and, therefore, no change necessary to Group accounting 
policies. 
 
AASB 9  Financial Instruments  
AASB 9 introduces new requirements for the classification and measurement of financial assets and 
liabilities. These requirements improve and simplify the approach for classification and measurement 
of financial assets compared with the requirements of AASB 139. 
The effective date is for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018. 
The entity is yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the impact of AASB 9. However, based on the 
entity’s preliminary assessment, the Standard is not expected to have a material impact on the 
transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements when it is first adopted for the year 
ending 30 June 2019.  
 
AASB 15  Revenue from Contracts with Customers  
AASB 15 replaces AASB 118: Revenue, AASB 111 Construction Contracts and some revenue-related 
Interpretations. In summary, AASB 15: 

• establishes a new revenue recognition model; 
• changes the basis for deciding whether revenue is to be recognised over time at a point in 

time; 
• provides a new and more detailed guidance on specific topics (eg multiple element 

arrangements, variable pricing, rights of return and warranties); and 
• expands and improves disclosures about revenue.  

The entity is yet to undertake a detailed assessment of the impact of AASB 15. However, based on the 
entity’s preliminary assessment, the Standard is not expected to have a material impact on the 
transactions and balances recognised in the financial statements when it is first adopted for the year 
ending 30 June 2019 given that revenue streams are not expected until products have been fully 
developed. 
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
NOTE 22: OTHER ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED) 
 
AASB 16 Leases 
This standard is applicable to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. The 
standard replaces AASB 117 'Leases' and for lessees will eliminate the classifications of operating 
leases and finance leases. Subject to exceptions, a 'right-of-use' asset will be capitalised in the 
statement of financial position, measured as the present value of the unavoidable future lease 
payments to be made over the lease term. The exceptions relate to short-term leases of 12 months 
or less and leases of low-value assets (such as personal computers and small office furniture) where 
an accounting policy choice exists whereby either a 'right-of-use' asset is recognised or lease payments 
are expensed to profit or loss as incurred.  
A liability corresponding to the capitalised lease will also be recognised, adjusted for lease 
prepayments, lease incentives received, initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of any future 
restoration, removal or dismantling costs. Straight-line operating lease expense recognition will be 
replaced with a depreciation charge for the leased asset (included in operating costs) and an interest 
expense on the recognised lease liability (included in finance costs). In the earlier periods of the lease, 
the expenses associated with the lease under AASB 16 will be higher when compared to lease 
expenses under AASB 117. However, EBITDA (Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and 
Amortisation) results will be improved as the operating expense is replaced by interest expense and 
depreciation in profit or loss under AASB 16. For classification within the statement of cash flows, the 
lease payments will be separated into both a principal (financing activities) and interest (either 
operating or financing activities) component. For lessor accounting, the standard does not 
substantially change how a lessor accounts for leases. The consolidated entity will adopt this standard 
from 1 July 2019 but the impact of its adoption is yet to be assessed by the consolidated entity.  
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DIRECTORS’ DECLARATION  
 
 
In the Directors’ opinion: 
 
a) the financial statements and notes set out on pages 25 to 51, and the Remuneration Report in the 
Directors’ Report are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 

 
i. giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its 

performance, as represented by the results of its operations, changes in equity and its cash 
flows, for the year ended on that date; and 
 

ii. complying with Australian Accounting Standards, Corporations Regulations 2001 and other 
mandatory professional reporting requirements;  

 
b) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable. 
 
c) the financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
 
This declaration is made after receiving the declarations required to be made to the Directors in 
accordance with section 295A of the Corporations Act 2001 for the year ended 30 June 2018. 
 
This declaration is made in accordance with a resolution of the Directors. 
 
On behalf of the Board 
 

 
 
Matthew Callahan     
Executive Director        
 
21 September 2018 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the members of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited

Report on the Audit of the Financial Report

Opinion

We have audited the financial report of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited and its subsidiaries (the
Group), which comprises the consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 June 2018, the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes
to the financial report, including a summary of significant accounting policies and the directors’
declaration.

In our opinion the accompanying financial report of the Group, is in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001, including:

(i) Giving a true and fair view of the Group’s financial position as at 30 June 2018 and of its
financial performance for the year ended on that date; and

(ii) Complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Regulations 2001.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial
Report section of our report.  We are independent of the Group in accordance with the Corporations
Act 2001 and the ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s
APES 110 Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are relevant to our audit of the
financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code.

We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Corporations Act 2001, which has been
given to the directors of the Company, would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the
time of this auditor’s report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in
our audit of the financial report of the current period.  These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial report as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide
a separate opinion on these matters.



Key Audit Matter Description Findings & Conclusion

Botanix Pharmaceuticals Ltd awarded share
based payments, in the form of share options, to
eligible executives and employees.
The Group performed calculations to record the
related share based payment expense in
accordance with AASB 2 Share Based Payments in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

Due to the complex and judgmental estimates
used in determining the valuation of the share
based payments, we consider the Group’s
calculation of the share based payment expense
to be a key audit matter. The Group uses
assumptions in respect of future market and
economic conditions.

Our audit procedures in respect of this area included

but were not limited to the following:

• Assessing the assumptions and model used to measure and
value the share-based payments relating to the options;

• Involving our valuation specialists to assess the
assumptions used in the Group's calculation being the share
price of the underlying equity, risk free rate and volatility;

• Assessing the allocation of the share-based payment
expense over management’s expected vesting period;

• Considering the vesting conditions of the options; and

• Assessing the adequacy of the disclosure in the financial
report (refer Note 2 and Note 11).

Based on the work performed, share based payments is
appropriately stated.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the
information in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 30 June 2018, but does not include the
financial report and the auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the financial report does not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial report, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial
report or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the Financial Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a
true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Corporations Act 2001
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of the
financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.



In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the ability of the group to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an
audit conducted in accordance with the Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material
if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website (http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx) at:

http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar1.pdf

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on the Remuneration Report

Opinion on the Remuneration Report

We have audited the Remuneration Report included in paragraphs pages 9 to 18 of the directors’        
report for the year ended 30 June 2018.

In our opinion, the Remuneration Report of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited, for the year ended 30
June 2018, complies with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001.

Responsibilities

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation and presentation of the
Remuneration Report in accordance with section 300A of the Corporations Act 2001. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Remuneration Report, based on our audit conducted in accordance with
Australian Auditing Standards.

BDO Audit (WA) Pty Ltd

Dean Just

Director

Perth, 21 September 2018
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The Board of Directors of Botanix Pharmaceuticals Limited (the “Company”) is responsible for the 
corporate governance of the Company. The Board guides and monitors the business and affairs of the 
Company on behalf of the shareholders by whom they are elected and to whom they are accountable. 
 
This statement sets out the main corporate governance practices in place throughout the financial 
year in accordance with 3rd edition of the ASX Principles of Good Corporate Governance and Best 
Practice Recommendations. 
 
This Statement was approved by the Board of Directors and is current as at 20 September 2018. 
 
PRINCIPLE 1: LAY SOLID FOUNDATIONS FOR MANAGEMENT AND OVERSIGHT 
 
ASX Recommendation 1.1: A listed entity should establish the functions reserved to the Board and 
those delegated to senior executives and disclose those functions. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Board has adopted a formal charter that details the respective Board and management functions 
and responsibilities. A copy of this Board charter is available in the corporate governance section of 
the Company's website at www.botanixpharma.com  
 
ASX Recommendation 1.2: A listed entity should undertake appropriate checks before appointing a 
person or putting forward to security holders a candidate for election as a Director and provide 
security holders with all material information relevant to a decision on whether or not to elect or 
re-elect a Director. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company did not elect any new Directors during the year. 
 
Information in relation to Directors seeking reappointment is set out in the Directors report and Notice 
of Annual General Meeting. 
 
ASX Recommendation 1.3: A listed entity should have a written agreement with each director and 
senior executive setting out the terms of their appointment. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company maintains written agreements with each of its Directors and senior executives setting 
out their roles and responsibilities. 
 
ASX Recommendation 1.4: The company secretary of a listed company should be accountable 
directly to the Board, through the chair, on all matters to do with the proper functioning of the 
Board. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company Secretary is engaged by the Company to manage the proper function of the Board. The 
Company Secretary reports directly to the Chair and is accountable to the Board. 
 

http://www.botanixpharma.com/
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ASX Recommendation 1.5: A listed entity should: 
• Have a diversity policy which includes the requirement for the Board to set measurable 

objectives for achieving gender diversity and assess annually the objectives and the entity’s 
progress to achieving them; 

• disclose the policy or a summary of it; 
• disclose the measurable objectives and progress towards achieving them; and 
• disclose the respective proportions of men and women on the Board and at each level of 

management and the company as a whole. 
 
The Company has not complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company has not adopted an express policy specifically addressing the achievement of gender 
diversity. Due to the current limited size of the Board, the Board does not consider it necessary to 
have a gender diversity policy, but will consider adopting a policy in the future. Furthermore, the 
Company has not set any objectives for achieving gender diversity. Should a gender diversity policy be 
considered appropriate for the Company in the future due to increases in size of the organisation, the 
policy will specifically deal with the objectives for achieving diversity.  
 
The Company's corporate code of conduct provides a framework for undertaking ethical conduct in 
employment. Under the corporate code of conduct, the Company will not tolerate any form of 
discrimination or harassment in the workplace. 
 
The Group currently has no female board members (2017: Nil), one female senior executive (2017: 
Nil). The Company has 3 female employees representing 30% of the total number of employees 
including directors.  
 
ASX Recommendation 1.6: A listed entity should disclose the process for evaluating the 
performance of the Board, its committees and individual Directors. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Board reviews its performance annually, as well as the performance of individual Committees and 
individual directors (including the performance of the Chairman as Chairman of the Board) 
 
Full details of the process for performance evaluation of the Board and individual Directors is available 
on the Company's website at www.botanixpharma.com  
 
A performance review was undertaken during the reporting period. 
 
ASX Recommendation 1.7: A listed entity should have and disclose a process for periodically 
evaluating the performance of its senior executives and disclose in relation to each reporting period 
where a performance evaluation was undertaken in accordance with a process. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Executive Director reviews the performance of the senior executives (including the Executive 
Director/Chief Scientific Officer).  The Executive Director conducts a performance evaluation of the 
senior executives by meeting with each senior executive on a yearly basis to review performance 
against the senior executive’s responsibilities as outlined in his or her contract with the Company and 

http://www.botanixpharma.com/
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against key performance indicators (KPI’s) set for the senior executive set by the Executive Director or 
the Board. 
 
The performance of Executive Director will be reviewed by Chainman of the Company. The Chairman 
will conduct a performance evaluation of the Executive Director annually to review performance 
against KPIs set for the previous year, and to establish KPIs for the forthcoming year. 
 
A performance review was undertaken during the reporting period. 
 
PRINCIPLE 2: STRUCTURE THE BOARD TO ADD VALUE 
 
ASX Recommendation 2.1: The Board of a listed entity should establish a Nomination Committee: 

• With at least three members the majority of which are independent Directors; 
• chaired by an independent director; and 
• disclose the charter of the committee, the members of the committee and the number of 

times the committee met throughout the period and member attendance at those 
meetings. 

 
The Company has partly complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Board has established a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Currently, Mr. Robert Towner 
(Chair) and Mr. Matt Callahan serve on the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.  
 
The Board considers that the composition of the Committee is appropriate given the current size and 
stage of development of the Company. 
 
A copy of the committee’s charter is available in the corporate governance section of the Company's 
website at www.botanixpharma.com  
 
No separate meetings of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were held during the year. 
The business of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee was conducted by the full Board in 
conjunction with Board meetings. 
 
ASX Recommendation 2.2: A listed entity should have and disclose a Board skills matrix setting out 
the mix of skills and diversity that the Board currently has or is looking to achieve in its membership. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
On a collective basis the Board's skills matrix indicates the mix of skills, experience and expertise that 
are considered necessary at Board level for optimal performance of the Board. The matrix reflects the 
Board's objective to have an appropriate mix of industry and professional experience including skills 
such as leadership, governance, strategy, finance, risk, IT, HR, policy development, international 
business and customer relationship. External consultants may be brought it with specialist knowledge 
to address areas where this is an attribute deficiency in the Board. 
 
  

http://www.botanixpharma.com/
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ASX Recommendation 2.3: A listed entity should disclose the names of the Directors considered by 
the Board to be independent Directors and provide details in relation to the length of service of 
each Director. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
Mr Graham Griffiths and Mr Robert Towner are considered to be an independent Directors. 
 
Mr Mathew Callahan and Mr William Bosch are Executive Directors and are not considered 
independent Directors as they are employed in an executive capacity. 
 
Details of the appointment dates of the Directors are included in the Directors Report forming part of 
the Annual Financial Statements. 
 
ASX Recommendation 2.4: The majority of the Board of a listed entity should be independent 
Directors. 
 
The Company has not complied with this recommendation. 
 
As in ASX recommendation 2.3, the majority of the Board is not considered to be independent.  
 
The Board considers that its current composition is appropriate given the current size and stage of 
development of the Company and allows for the best utilisation of the experience and expertise of 
its members. 
 
Directors having a conflict of interest in relation to a particular Item of business must absent 
themselves from the Board meeting before commencement of discussion on the topic.  
 
ASX Recommendation 2.5: The Chair of a listed entity should be an independent Director and, in 
particular, should not be the same person as the CEO of the entity. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Chairperson, Mr. Graham Griffiths is considered to be an independent Director.  
 
Mr. Mathew Callahan is Executive Director of the Company.  
 
ASX Recommendation 2.6: A listed entity should have a program for inducting new Directors and 
provide appropriate professional development opportunities. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
There were no new Directors appointed during the reporting period 
 
Upon appointment to the Board new Directors will be provided with Company policies and procedures 
will be provided an opportunity to discuss the Company's operations with senior management and 
the Board. 
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The Company encourages its Directors to participate in professional development opportunities 
presented to the Company and provides appropriate industry information to its Board members on a 
regular basis. 
 
 
PRINCIPLE 3: ACT ETHICALLY AND RESPONSIBLY 
 
ASX Recommendation 3.1: A listed entity should establish a code of conduct and disclose the code 
or a summary of the code. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company has established a code of conduct that sets out the principles covering appropriate 
conduct in a variety of contexts and outlines the minimum standard of behaviour expected from 
Directors and employees. 
 
A copy of the Company’s code of conduct is available in the corporate governance section of the 
Company's website at www.botanixpharma.com. 
 
PRINCIPLE 4: SAFEGUARD INTEGRITY IN FINANCIAL REPORTING 
 
ASX Recommendation 4.1: The Board of a listed entity should establish an audit committee: 

• With at least three members, all of whom are non-executive Directors and a majority of 
which are independent Directors; 

• chaired by an independent Director; and 
• disclose the charter of the committee, the members of the committee and the number of 

times the committee met throughout the period and member attendance at those 
meetings. 

 
The Company has partly complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Board has established an Audit Committee. Currently, Mr. Graham Griffiths (Chair) and Mr. Matt 
Callahan serve on the Audit Committee.  
 
The Board considers that the composition of the Committee is appropriate given the current size and 
stage of development of the Company. 
 
A copy of the committee’s charter is available in the corporate governance section of the Company's 
website at www.botanixpharma.com 
 
Details of meetings of the Audit Committee held during the year are set out in the Directors Report 
included in the Financial Statements. 
 
  

http://www.botanixpharma.com/
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ASX Recommendation 4.2: The Board of a listed entity should, before it approves the entity’s 
financial statements for a financial period, receive from its CEO and CFO a declaration that, in their 
opinion, the financial records of the entity have been properly maintained and that the financial 
statements comply with the appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the 
financial position and performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis 
of a sound system of risk management and internal control which is operating effectively. 
 
The Company partly complies with this recommendation. 
 
The Board has received a written assurance from the Executive Director and Company Secretary in 
respect to the half year financial statements ended 31 December 2017 and full year financial 
statements for the year ended 30 June 2018 that to the best of their knowledge and belief, the 
financial records of the entity have been properly maintained and that the financial statements 
comply with the appropriate accounting standards and give a true and fair view of the financial 
position and performance of the entity and that the opinion has been formed on the basis of a sound 
system of risk management and internal control which is operating effectively. The Board notes that 
due to its nature, the internal control assurance provided can only be reasonable rather than absolute.  
This is due to such factors as the need for judgement, the use of testing on a sample basis, the inherent 
limitations in internal control and because much of the evidence is persuasive rather than conclusive 
and therefore is not and cannot be designed to detect all weaknesses in internal control procedures. 
 
Given the size and nature of the Company’s operations the Board has not received the assurance in 
respect of the quarterly cash flow statements believing that the provision of the assurance for the half 
and full year financial statements is sufficient. 
 
ASX Recommendation 4.3: A listed entity should ensure that the external auditor attends its Annual 
General Meeting and is available to answer questions from security holders relevant to the audit. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The external auditor attends the Annual General Meeting and is available to answer questions from 
shareholders relevant to the audit and financial statements. The external auditor will also be allowed 
a reasonable opportunity to answer written questions submitted by shareholders to the auditor as 
permitted under the Corporations Act. 
 
PRINCIPLE 5: MAKE TIMELY AND BALANCED DISCLOSURE 
 
ASX Recommendation 5.1: A listed entity should establish written policies designed to ensure 
compliance with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure accountability at a senior 
executive level for that compliance and disclose those policies or a summary of those policies. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company has established a continuous disclosure policy which is designed to guide compliance 
with ASX Listing Rule disclosure requirements and to ensure that all Directors, senior executives and 
employees of the Company understand their responsibilities under the policy. The Board has 
designated the Chairman, other Board Members and the Company Secretary as the persons 
responsible for ensuring that all required price sensitive information is disclosed to the ASX as 
required. 
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In accordance with the Company's continuous disclosure policy, all information provided to ASX for 
release to the market is posted to its website at www.botanixpharma.com after ASX confirms an 
announcement has been made. 
 
A copy of the continuous disclosure policy is available in the corporate governance section of the 
Company's website at www.botanixpharma.com. 
 
PRINCIPLE 6: RESPECT THE RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS 
 
ASX Recommendation 6.1: A listed entity should provide information about itself and its governance 
to investors via its website. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company’s website at www.botanixpharma.com contains information about the Company’s 
projects, Directors and management and the Company’s corporate governance practices, policies and 
charters. All ASX announcements made to the market, including annual and half year financial results 
are posted on the website as soon as they have been released by the ASX. The full text of all notices 
of meetings and explanatory material, the Company’s Annual Report and copies of all investor 
presentations are posted on the website. 
 
ASX Recommendation 6.2: A listed entity should design and implement an investor relations 
program to facilitate effective two-way communication with investors. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company’s Chairman and Executive Director are the Company’s main contacts for investors and 
potential investors and make themselves available to discuss the Company’s activities when 
requested. In addition to announcements made in accordance with its continuous disclosure 
obligations Company, from time to time, prepares and releases general investor updates about the 
Company. 
 
Contact with the Company can be made via an email address provided on the website and investors 
can subscribe to the Company’s mailing list. 
 
ASX Recommendation 6.3: A listed entity should disclose the policies and processes it has in place 
to facilitate and encourage participation at meetings of security holders. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company encourages participation of shareholders at any general meetings and its Annual 
General Meeting each year. Shareholders are encouraged to lodge direct votes or proxies subject to 
the adoption of satisfactory authentication procedures if they are unable to attend the meeting. 
 
The full text of all notices of meetings and explanatory material are posted on the Company’s website 
at www.botanixpharma.com 
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ASX Recommendation 6.4: A listed entity should give security holders the option to receive 
communications from, and send communications to, the entity and its security register 
electronically. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
Contact with the Company can be made via an email address provided on the website and investors 
can subscribe to the Company’s mailing list. 
 
The Company’s share register provides a facility whereby investors can provide email addresses to 
receive correspondence from the Company electronically and investors can contact the share register 
via telephone, facsimile or email. 
 
PRINCIPLE 7: RECOGNISE AND MANAGE RISK 
 
ASX Recommendation 4.1: The Board of a listed entity should have a committee to oversee risk: 

• With at least three members, all of whom are non-executive Directors and a majority of 
which are independent Directors; 

• chaired by an independent director; and 
• disclose the charter of the committee, the members of the committee and the number of 

times the committee met throughout the period and member attendance at those 
meetings. 

 
The Company has not complied with this recommendation. 
 
Given the size Company and its operations the board as a whole is responsible to oversee the 
Company’s risk management framework. 
 
Management is responsible for developing, maintaining and improving the Company’s risk 
management and internal control system. Management provides the board with periodic reports 
identifying areas of potential risks and the safeguards in place to efficiently manage material business 
risks.  These risk management and internal control systems are in place to protect the financial 
statements of the entity from potential misstatement, and the Board is responsible for satisfying itself 
annually, or more frequently as required, that management has developed a sound system of risk 
management and internal control.  
 
A copy of the Company’s risk management policy, incorporating the framework, is available in the 
corporate governance section of the Company's website at www.botanixpharma.com 
 
ASX Recommendation 7.2: The Board or a committee of the Board, of a listed entity should review 
the entity’s risk management framework at least annually to satisfy itself that it continues to be 
sound and disclose in relation to each reporting period whether such a review was undertaken. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Board has conducted a review of the Company’s Risk Management Framework during the 
reporting period. 
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ASX Recommendation 7.3: A listed entity should disclose if it has an internal audit function and if it 
does not have an internal audit function that fact and the processes it employs for evaluating and 
continually improving the effectiveness of risk management and internal control processes. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
Given the Company’s current size and level of operations it does not have an internal audit function. 
The Board oversees the Company’s risk management systems, practices and procedures to ensure 
effective risk identification and management and compliance with internal guidelines and external 
requirements and monitors the quality of the accounting function. 
 
ASX Recommendation 7.4: A listed entity should disclose whether it has any material exposure to 
economic, environmental and social sustainability risks and if it does how it manages or intends to 
manage those risks. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Company has exposure to economic risks, including general economy wide economic risks and 
risks associated with the economic cycle which impact on the price and demand for minerals which 
affects the sentiment for investment in exploration companies. 
 
There will a requirement in the future for the Company to raise additional funding to pursue its 
business objectives. The Company’s ability to raise capital may be effected by these economic risks. 
 
Company has in place risk management procedures and processes to identify, manage and minimise 
its exposure to these economic risks where appropriate. 
 
The Board currently considers that the Company does not have any material exposure to 
environmental risk. 
 
The Board currently considers that the Company does not have any material exposure to social 
sustainability risk. The Company’s Corporate Code of Conduct outlines the Company’s commitment to 
integrity and fair dealing in its business affairs and to a duty of care to all Directors, executives and 
employees. The code sets out the principles covering appropriate conduct in a variety of contexts and 
outlines the minimum standard of behavior expected from employees when dealing with 
stakeholders. 
 
PRINCIPLE 8: REMUNERATE FAIRLY AND RESPONSIBLY 
 
ASX Recommendation 8.1: The Board of a listed entity should establish a remuneration committee: 

• With at least three members the majority of which are independent Directors; 
• chaired by an independent Director; and 
• disclose the charter of the committee, the members of the committee and the number of 

times the committee met throughout the period and member attendance at those 
meetings. 

 
The Company has partly complied with this recommendation. 
 
The Board has established a Nomination and Remuneration Committee. Currently, Mr. Robert Towner 
(Chair) and Mr. Matt Callahan serve on the Nomination and Remuneration Committee.  
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The Board considers that the composition of the Committee is appropriate given the current size and 
stage of development of the Company. 
 
A copy of the committee’s charter is available in the corporate governance section of the Company's 
website at www.botanixpharma.com 
 
No separate meetings of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee were held during the year. 
The business of the Nomination and Remuneration Committee was conducted by the full Board in 
conjunction with Board meetings. 
 
ASX Recommendation 8.2: A listed entity should separately disclose its policies and practices 
regarding the remuneration of non-executive Directors and the remuneration of executive Directors 
and other senior executives. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
Mr Graham Griffiths and Mr Robert Towner are paid a fixed annual fee for their service to the 
Company as a Non-Executive Director. Non-Executive Directors may, subject to shareholder approval, 
may be granted options. 
 
Executives of the Company typically receive remuneration comprising a base salary component and 
other benefits based on the terms of their employment agreements with the Company and potentially 
the ability to participate in bonus arrangements and may, subject to shareholder approval if 
appropriate, be granted options.  
 
ASX Recommendation 8.3: A listed entity which has an equity based remuneration scheme should 
have a policy on whether participants are permitted to enter into transactions which limit the 
economic risk of participating in the scheme and disclose the policy or a summary of that policy. 
 
The Company has complied with this recommendation. 
 
A participant in an equity based remuneration plan operated by the Company must not enter into a 
transaction (whether through the use of derivatives or otherwise) which limit the economic risk of 
participating in the equity based remuneration plan. 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  
 
The Shareholder information set out below was applicable as at 17 September 2018: 
 
Additional information required by the ASX Limited Listing Rules not disclosed elsewhere in this Annual 
Report is set out below. 
 
SHAREHOLDINGS 
The issued capital of the Company at 17 September 2018 is 757,424,658 ordinary fully paid shares 
(including escrow shares – shown separately below). All ordinary shares carry one vote per share. 
 
1. TOP 20 SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 SEPTEMBER 2018 FULLY PAID ORDINARY SHARES  
 

No. Holder Name Holding % IC 
1 SHENASABY INVESTMENTS PTY LTD <SHENASABY A/C> 70,738,307 9.34% 
2 CAPERI PTY LTD <CAPERI A/C> 70,588,321 9.32% 
3 DR HENRY WILLIAM BOSCH 15,300,000 2.02% 
4 YARRAANDOO PTY LTD <YARRAANDOO SUPER FUND A/C> 10,000,000 1.32% 
5 MR TIMOTHY PANGBOURNE BIRD 8,000,000 1.06% 
6 JAMAX HOLDING PTY LTD 7,500,000 0.99% 
7 CITICORP NOMINEES PTY LIMITED 7,411,628 0.98% 
8 BNP PARIBAS NOMS PTY LTD <DRP> 7,211,993 0.95% 
9 PERSHING AUSTRALIA NOMINEES PTY LTD <ARGONAUT ACCOUNT> 7,100,000 0.94% 
10 SWEET AS DEVELOPMENTS PTY LTD<SWEETMAN MCNICKLE FAMILY A/C> 7,065,455 0.93% 
11 MR THOMAS LOVENDAHL SORENSEN 7,050,000 0.93% 
12 NATIONAL NOMINEES LIMITED  6,255,679 0.83% 
13 TT NICHOLLS PTY LTD <TT NICHOLLS P/L S/F A/C> 6,171,546 0.81% 
14 MR OSAGIE IMASOGIE 6,000,000 0.79% 
15 MR RAFFAELE DE MARIA 5,738,000 0.76% 
16 ZANYA NOMINEES PTY LTD <JLS SUPERANNUATION A/C> 5,334,545 0.70% 
17 NUTSVILLE PTY LTD <INDUST ELECTRIC CO S/F A/C> 4,872,727 0.64% 
18 WASHINGTON H SOUL PATTINSON AND COMPANY LIMITED 4,840,909 0.64% 
19 MR BRENDAN PAUL COOPER 4,610,686 0.61% 
20 WASHINGTON H SOUL PATTINSON AND COMPANY LIMITED 4,545,455 0.60% 
  Totals 266,335,251 35.16% 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
2. COMBINED DISTRIBUTION 

 

Shares Range  No. of Holders No. of 
Shares 

1 – 1,000  93 17,014 
1,001 – 5,000  420 1,731,606 
5,001 – 10,000  782 6,523,568 
10,001 – 100,000  2,165 87,927,779 
100,001 and over  837 661,224,691 
  4,297 757,424,658 

Number holding less than a marketable parcel at  
$0.049 per share 

 
331 2,084,263 

Shareholders by Location  No. of Holders No. of 
Shares 

Australian holders  4,188 716,371,002 
Overseas holders  109 41,107,656 
  4,297 757,424,658 

 
3. SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AS AT 17 SEPTEMBER 2018 

 
Holder Name Holding 
SHENASABY INVESTMENTS PTY LTD 70,738,187 
CAPERI PTY LTD 70,588,321 

 
4. UNLISTED EQUITY SECURITIES 

 
Options Range and number of holders 

 
 Unlisted 

options 
Unlisted options Unlisted options Unlisted options 

 At $0.03 
Expiring 30 
June 2019 

 

At $0.0675 
Expiring 1 Dec 
2019 Vesting 
progressively 
over 3 years 

At $0.057 
Expiring 19 Jan 
2020 Vesting 
progressively 
over 3 years 

At $0.068 
Expiring 8 May 
2020 Vesting 
progressively 
over 3 years 

Over 100,001   6 3 4 2 
Total Holders 6 3 4 2 

Number of Options 13,000,000 16,215,959 6,738,652 4,243,164 

 
Option Holders with greater than 20% (other than issued pursuant on an employee incentive 
scheme) 

 
Holder Number 
ARGONAUT INVESTMENTS PTY LTD (0.03 Expiring 30 June 2019) 12,000,000 
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ASX ADDITIONAL INFORMATION (CONTINUED) 
 
5. VOLUNTARY ESCROW 
 

There are currently no holders with shares in voluntary escrow. 
 
6. VOTING RIGHTS 

 
Ordinary Shares 
On a show of hands, every member present in person or by proxy shall have one vote and upon 
a poll each share shall have one vote. 
 
Options 
Options carrying no voting rights. Options convert to one ordinary share upon exercise 

 
7. ON-MARKET BUY BACK 

There is currently no on-market buyback program for any of the Company’s listed securities. 
 

 
 
 


	The financial report has been prepared on the going concern basis, which contemplates the continuity of normal business activity and the realisation of assets and the settlement of liabilities in the normal course of business.
	The Group has generated a comprehensive loss after tax for the year ended 30 June 2018 of $11,011,813 (30 June 2017: $$4,773,098), had a net working capital surplus of $16,284,891 at 30 June 2018 (30 June 2017: $$5,436,823) and experienced net cash ou...
	At 30 June 2018 the Group had a cash balance of $17,263,408 (30 June 2017: $5,720,514).
	The Directors believe that there are sufficient funds to meet the Group’s working capital requirements.
	The Company has formed a Nomination and Remuneration Committee and an Audit Committee. No separate meetings of the Committees were held during the year. During the year the business of the Committees was conducted ty the full Board in conjunction with...

	The Company recognises the importance of structuring the remuneration packages of its Directors’ and Executives so as to attract and retain people with the qualifications, skills and experience to help the company achieve the required objectives. Howe...
	All remuneration paid to Directors and Executives is valued at the cost to the Company and expensed. Options are valued using the Black-Scholes methodology.
	The Board has established a Remuneration Committee which provides advice on remuneration and incentive policies and practices and specific recommendations on remuneration packages and other terms of employment for Executive Directors, other senior Exe...
	Fees and payments to Non-Executive Directors reflect the demands which are made on, and the responsibilities of, the Directors. Non-Executive Directors’ fees and payments are reviewed annually by the Board. The Chairman’s fees are determined independe...
	Remuneration packages for the Executive Directors and senior Executives are designed by, and approved by the Board. The remuneration policy, setting the terms and conditions for the Executive Directors and other senior Executives, was developed by, an...
	Senior Executives when employed receive a fixed salary, and from time to time, options and bonus payments based on the achievement of specified individual performance criteria.
	There is no correlation between the company’s performance and remuneration paid to its Executive Directors, Non-Executive Directors, Senior Executive and employees. When the Board deems it appropriate to, equity based remuneration may be granted to Di...
	(1) Directors all appointed 1 July 2016.
	(2) Appointed 1 February 2017
	(1) Acquired during the financial year off market
	(2) Sold during the financial year off market
	(1) Options cancelled as a result of exercise of issued under cashless exercise facility.
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